**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

RECEIVED

JAN 20 2015

APPEAL FROM LAURENS COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

The Hon. Charles B. Simmons, Special Referee

Appellate Case No. 2014-001248
Case No. 2011-CP-30-00583

Certus Bank, N. A.,Appellant,

v.

Kenneth E. Bennett, Twin Rivers Resort, LLC and
Bennett of Greenwood, LLC, Defendants,

Of which Twin Rivers Resort, LLC is theRespondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT,
CERTUS BANK, N.A.

CALLISON TIGHE & ROBINSON, LLC
Louis H. Lang, Esq., SC Bar#03127
1812 Lincoln St., Ste. 200
PO Box 1390
Columbia SC 29202-1390
Telephone: (803) 404-6900
Facsimile: (803) 404-6902

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

I.

Did the Court err in granting Twin Rivers partial summary judgment dismissing Certus' ratification cause of action when the record was replete with evidence of ratification?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The complaint, filed June 16, 2011, has three causes of action – equitable lien, reformation, and ratification – all of which seek to establish the validity and enforceability of a mortgage dated November 1, 2007 regarding which Appellant, CertusBank, N.A. (Certus), is the owner and holder. Certus purchased the November 1, 2007, mortgage from the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation after the failure of CommunitySouth Bank and Trust (CSBT). (Complaint, ROA 4).

Respondent, Twin Rivers Resorts, LLC (Twin Rivers), filed its answer – a general denial - on August 22, 2011. (Twin Rivers answer, ROA 24).

On February 25, 2014, Twin Rivers moved for summary judgment. (Twin Rivers motion for summary judgment, ROA 25) and filed a memorandum in support on April 4, 2014, (Twin Rivers memorandum in support, ROA 57). Certus filed its memorandum in opposition on April 8, 2014 (Certus memorandum in opposition, ROA 234).

On April 16, 2014, the Court granted Twin Rivers partial summary judgment, dismissing Certus' ratification claim. (Order granting partial summary judgment, ROA 1). Certus moved to alter or amend judgment on April 28, 2014 (Certus motion to alter or amend, ROA 246), which was denied on May 12, 2014 (order denying motion to alter or amend, ROA 3). This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. People and entities.

Kenneth E. Bennett (K.E. Bennett) was a member of JKR Development, LLC (JKR), was the sole member of Bennett of Greenwood (BOG) and is the brother of Richard C. Bennett (R.C. Bennett).¹

R.C. Bennett was not a member of JKR, but was hired by JKR to manage the property. R.C. Bennett moved to South Carolina to become an “owner of a percentage of the Twin Rivers Resort asset of JKR.” (R.C. Bennett Dep. p. 1, ll. 11-13, K.E. Bennett Dep. p. 8, ll. 5-9:2, ROA 659 and 259).

JKR was a limited liability company having three members – K.E. Bennett and two others who are not relevant to this litigation. JKR held title to the property from January 2006 until February 2008 (Deed from JKR to BOG, ROA 812). JKR also was the mortgagor under a purchase money mortgage given CSBT on January 31, 2006, when JKR acquired title to the property. (Certus memorandum in opposition to Twin Rivers’ motion for summary judgment, ROA 234).

BOG was a single member limited liability company. K.E. Bennett was its single member. BOG held title to the property from February 2008 until September 2010. (Deed from BOG to Twin Rivers, ROA 876).

Twin Rivers is a single member limited liability company with R.C. Bennett as its single member. (R.C. Bennett Dep. p. 7, ll. 19 – 25, ROA 655). Twin Rivers obtained title to the property on September 14, 2010.

¹ Another Bennett was involved with the property as a member of JKR - Richard K. Bennett, who is the nephew of K.E. Bennett and R.C. Bennett.

James S. Belk, Esq., was the closing attorney for the November 1, 2007 mortgage loan transaction. David Swank was the CSBT loan officer.

B. Property.

The subject property is located on Lake Greenwood in Laurens County and consists of a four unit efficiency motel, a rental home, a rental cabin, 17 RV lots, 24 boat slips and a gas pump. (First page of appraisal attached to David Swank affidavit, ROA 860).

C. Relief sought by Certus.

Certus' complaint seeks to confirm the validity and enforceability of the November 1, 2007, mortgage. The November 1, 2007, mortgage was signed by K.E. Bennett when the property was titled in the name of JKR. The proceeds from the November 1, 2007, CSBT loan, which the November 1, 2007, mortgage was to secure, paid and satisfied the January 31, 2006, purchase money loan JKR received from CSBT on February 1, 2006, through which JKR financed the purchase of the property. (K.E. Bennett July 20, 2007, purchase agreement and closing statement from November 1, 2007 mortgage loan transaction, ROA 818 and 886).

Twin Rivers' has denied Certus' holds any interest, lien or encumbrance on the property.

D. Pertinent Facts.

On January 31, 2006, JKR acquired the property and financed that purchase by a purchase money loan from CSBT for \$520,000.00. Repayment of the loan was secured by a purchase money mortgage signed by JKR and given to CBST. (Certus memorandum in opposition, ROA 234).

On July 20, 2007, K.E. Bennett agreed to buy-out the interest of the other two members of JKR. (July 20, 2007, purchase agreement, ROA 818). The July 20, 2007, purchase agreement

provided K.E. Bennett would (1) “take over all payments on the properties ...;” (2) “take over the line of credit (\$50,000.00 at Community South)...;” and (3) **“take over all payments on the 1st mortgage for Twin Rivers (\$405,000+/-)”** *Id.* Emphasis added. R.C. Bennett, who would become the sole member of Twin Rivers and was the manager of the property for JKR, participated in the negotiations of July 20, 2007, purchase agreement. (R.C. Bennett deposition, p. 14, ll. 7-20, ROA 660). The July 20, 2007, purchase agreement provided certain debts owed by JKR to R.C. Bennett would be paid by K.E. Bennett. (July 20, 2007, purchase agreement, ROA 818). R.C. Bennett knew of the January 31, 2006, purchase money mortgage given JKR to CSBT. (R.C. Bennett Dep. p. 14, ll. 7-20, ROA 660).

The July 20, 2007, purchase agreement closed on November 1, 2007. Attorney James S. Belk, Esq., was the closing attorney. A new loan was obtained from CSBT to fund payment of various JKR debts including the refinance of the CSBT February 1, 2006, purchase money mortgage. (James S. Belk, Esq., affidavit, ROA 810).

The closing attorney, James S. Belk, Esq., K.E. Bennett and CSBT all intended the new CSBT loan be secured by a first lien mortgage encumbering the property. (James S. Belk, Esq., affidavit, ROA 810). That did not occur, and the new CSBT mortgage was signed only by K.E. Bennett, although the property was titled in JKR. (November 1, 2007, closing statement, November 1, 2007, mortgage and agreement to provide insurance, ROA 886, and 821 and 820).

For the November 1, 2007 closing, K.E. Bennett provided proof of a hazard insurance policy listing CSBT as the mortgagee. (November 1, 2007, closing instructions from CSBT to James S. Belk, Esq., and agreement to provide insurance, ROA 819, and 820 and K.E. Bennett Dep. p. 23, ll. 23 – p. 24, l. 8, ROA 311 - 312). K.E. Bennett signed a business purpose statement

affirming the November 1, 2007, loan proceeds were being used to “refinance commercial [i.e. Twin Rivers’] property.” (Business purpose statement, ROA 830).

On February 22, 2008, K.E. Bennett, acting as manager for JKR, executed a deed transferring title of the property to BOG. (February 22, 2008 deed, ROA 812).

The affidavit attached to the February 22, 2008 deed, also signed by K.E. Bennett, says the total consideration for the conveyance was \$1,600,000 and the property was transferred subject to \$1,300,000 in liens or encumbrances which would include the November 1, 2007, CSBT mortgage. (February 22, 2008 deed, ROA 832).

Following the conveyance to BOG, R.C. Bennett continued to manage the property and was involved in the management of the financing and debts on the property. (K.E. Bennett Dep. p. 30, ll. 16-21, ROA 318). Although maintaining that he was not a member of BOG, R.C. Bennett testified he “was a percentage [owner]” of BOG. (R.C. Bennett Dep. p. 19, l. 14 – p. 20, l. 3, ROA 667 - 668).

On November 29, 2007, shortly after closing the November 1, 2007, mortgage loan transaction, R.C. Bennett inquired with his brother, K.E. Bennett, about the “due dates, or amount due at Community South on the twin rivers (sic) note?” (November 29, 2007, letter, ROA 831).

On March 31, 2008, and again on May 6, 2008, R.C. Bennett acknowledged CSBT’s encumbrance on the property, asking his brother, K.E. Bennett, about the “main mortgage on Twin Rivers (CommunitySouth [CBST])!” (March 31, 2008, and May 6, 2008, letters, ROA 834 and 835). On August 11, 2008, K.E. Bennett provided CSBT a document entitled “Evidence of Property Insurance” on the Twin Rivers property listing CSBT as the “Mortgagee”. (August 11,

2008, Evidence of Property Insurance and R.C. Bennett Dep. p. 34, l. 11 – p. 35, l. 1, ROA 836 and 682 - 683).

On November 6, 2009, R.C. Bennett, signing as “agent” for BOG, applied for new insurance on the property and obtained that insurance which designated CBST as the “Certificate Holder” of the policy. R.C. Bennett also listed CSBT as having a “Loss Payable” interest on the property and as “Mortgagee” on the policy. (Handwritten note to David Swank dated April 14, 2010, ROA 869, Taylor Insurance Agency Documents, ROA 838, and R.C. Bennett Dep. p. 29, l. 20 – p. 31, l. 6 and p. 31, l. 25 – p. 32, l. 8, ROA 677 – 679 and ROA 679-680).

On April 1, 2009, K.E. Bennett signed a modification of the November 1, 2007, loan. This modification extended the loan’s maturity date to April 1, 2010. The loan modification says the obligation is secured by a mortgage dated November 1, 2007. (Loan modification, ROA 837).

On schedule D of K.E. Bennett’s personal financial statement as of January 1, 2010, “Twin Rivers Resort” is listed as an asset valued at \$550,000.00 and says “Community South [CBST]” is the “Mortgage Company” with a loan balance of \$497,000.00. The schedules attached to this personal financial statement say that “All Properties Titled in the Name of Ken E. Bennett Unless So Note (sic).” (K.E. Bennett, personal financial statement, ROA 844).

On March 12, 2010, R.C. Bennett told CSBT loan officer David Swank “if we can come to an agreement...I will assume the mortgage payment” on the “Twin Rivers Notes.” (March 12, 2010 letter, ROA 859, R.C. Bennett Dep. p. 43, ll. 6-18, ROA 691 and David Swank affidavit, ROA 860).

On March 15, 2010, R.C. Bennett provided proof to CBST loan officer David Swank that all taxes on the property had been paid. (March 15, 2010 letter, ROA 862 and David Swank affidavit, ROA 860).

On or about March 30, 2010, K.E. Bennett and R.C. Bennett received and accepted a CSBT loan commitment to refinance the November 1, 2007 loan. The new loan was to be secured by a first mortgage on the property, and by encumbrances on other properties owned by R.C. Bennett or owned by an entity owned or controlled by him. K.E. Bennett signed the commitment letter representing himself as the "owner" of the property. (March 30, 2010, commitment letter, ROA 863).

On March 30, 2010, R.C. Bennett wrote a check to CSBT for \$14,923.49 for the "interest on Twin Rivers [November 1, 2007] Loan" (Check #8813, ROA 868).

On April 14, 2010, R.C. Bennett provided CSBT's David Swank with proof of insurance coverage on the property, which listed CSBT as the mortgagee. (Handwritten note, ROA 869 and David Swank affidavit, ROA 860).

On April 23, 2010, K.C. Bennett signed a 90-day extension of the November 1, 2007, loan which acknowledged that the loan was separately secured by a "Mortgage Dated 11/01/2007." (April 23, 2010, Loan extension, ROA 870).

In June 2010, R.C. Bennett made handwritten notes on a "past due notice" on the November 1, 2007, CSBT loan. The past due notice lists the "Twin Rivers Rd" property as the collateral for the loan. (Past due notice, ROA 872 and R.C. Bennett Dep. p. 56, l. 21 – p. 57, l. 1 and p. 58, l. 18 – p. 60, l. 16, ROA 704 – 705 and 706 - 708).

On June 17, 2010, R.C. Bennett provided CBST a hand written document entitled “new payment history to Community South Bank on Twin Rivers [November 1, 2007] Loan #8001376 \$497,450” listing the payments he made on the CBST November 1, 2007 loan. (June 17, 2010 letter, ROA 873).

On July 13, 2010, Twin Rivers Resort, LLC was formed. (R.C. Bennett Dep. p. 7, ll. 19-25, ROA 655).

On August 20, 2010, K.E. Bennett signed a second extension of the November 1, 2007, loan, extending the maturity date of the loan until October 3, 2010. (Loan extension #2, ROA 874).

On September 14, 2010, K.E. Bennett, the sole member of BOG, in consideration of “One Dollar,” signed a deed conveying the property to R.C. Bennett’s single-member limited liability company, Twin Rivers. This deed was not recorded until December 17, 2010. (September 14, 2010 deed, ROA 876).

For the September 14, 2010, deed, K.E. Bennett signed an affidavit of exempt transfers claiming transferring the property was exempt from recording fees because the value of property being transferred was equal to or less than \$100. (Affidavit attached to September 14, 2010, deed, ROA 879).

On September 29, 2010, R.C. Bennett signed documents, including a note, as a “modification” of the November 1, 2007, loan. The documents signed by R.C. Bennett say the November 1, 2007, note is secured by a “MORTGAGE DATED 11-1-2007 RECORDED IN LAURENS COUNTY 12-10-2007 BK M1727 PG 1” - the November 1, 2007, mortgage.

(Modification, ROA 881 and R. C. Bennett Dep. p . 38, ll. 8-24, ROA 686 and David Swank affidavit, ROA 860).

On September 29, 2010, R.C. Bennett made another payment on the November 1, 2007 loan. (Check number 1030, ROA 885).

In connection with the purposed modification of the November 1, 2007, loan, R.C. Bennett signed several mortgages on various properties under his control in Illinois intended to be the additional collateral in the modification of the Bennett Loan. (David Swank affidavit, ROA 860).

ARGUMENT

I.

The court erred in granting Twin Rivers partial summary judgment dismissing Certus' ratification cause of action because the record is replete with evidence of ratification.

A. Summary judgment standard.

Summary judgment is appropriate when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Strother v. Lexington County Recreation Commission*, 332 S.C. 54, 504 S.E.2d 117 (1998). In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all inferences which can reasonably be drawn from the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Lyles v. BMI, Inc.*, 292 S.C. 153, 355 S.E.2d 282 (Ct. App. 1987). “[I]n cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment.” *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co.*, 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009), quoted in *Simmons v. Berkeley Elec. Coop., Inc.*, 404 S.C. 172,

744 S.E.2d 580 (Ct. App. 2013). The South Carolina Supreme Court defines the word “scintilla” as a “gleam,” a “glimmer,” a “spark,” the “least particle,” and the “smallest trace.” *Beathea v. Floyd*, 177 S.C. 521, 181 S.E. 721, 724 (1935), (citation omitted). See also *H&H of Johnston, LLC v. Old Republic Nat. Title Ins. Co.*, 405 S.C. 469, 476, 748 S.E.2d 72, 75 (Ct. App. 2013) (The Court of Appeals held there was a genuine issue of fact regarding the existence of an oral contract because the non-moving party submitted an affidavit saying, “H&H had an agreement with [the title agent] regarding the three coverage exceptions.”).

B. The facts precluded the Court granting partial summary judgment.

The record is replete with evidence of ratification.

Everyone involved in the November 1, 2007, mortgage loan transaction - the closing attorney, JKR through its member K.E. Bennett, and K.E. Bennett - intended the November 1, 2007, mortgage to secure the November 1, 2007, loan.

Based on my knowledge of this transaction, it was my intent as the closing attorney, the intent of Kenneth Bennett, and the intent of CSBT for SCBT to obtain a first lien on the property described in the [November 1, 2007, mortgage] in order to secure repayment of its loan and it was the intent of JKR Development, LLC, of which Kenneth Bennett was a member, as the title holder of the property, to give CSBT that first lien.

(James S. Belk, Esq., affidavit, ROA 811).

R.C. Bennett knew the November 1, 2007 loan was to be secured by the November 1, 2007 mortgage. R.C. Bennett managed the property, having moved to South Carolina to do so. R.C. Bennett says he was an “owner of a percentage of the Twin Rivers Resort Asset of JKR.” R.C. Bennett was involved in the negotiations of the July 20, 2007, purchase agreement. The July 20, 2007, purchase agreement refers to the first lien purchase money mortgage held by CSBT which

encumbered the property. The November 1, 2007, loan paid and satisfied that purchase money mortgage.

A principal may ratify the act of his agent. 2 Am. Jur. 2d *Agency* § 180 (1986) (“As applied to the law of agency, ratification is the adoption or affirmance by a person of a prior act which did not bind him, but which was done or professed to be done on his account, thus giving effect to the act....”). Ratification may be express or implied, *id.* at § 182, and because ratification relates back to the time of the original transaction, once it is occurs, the ratification becomes immediately obligatory and cannot afterward be revoked or recalled, *id.* at § 184.

The elements of ratification are (1) acceptance by the principal of benefits of agent's acts, (2) full knowledge of the facts, and (3) circumstances or an affirmative election indicating the principal's intention to adopt the unauthorized arrangements. *Anthony v. Padmar, Inc.*, 320 S.C. 436, 465 S.E.2d 745 (Ct. App. 1995).

Here, JKR is the principal and K.E. Bennett its agent. JKR accepted K.E. Bennett's actions. K.E. Bennett was the moving force behind the entire series of events leading up to the November 1, 2007, closing. K.E. Bennett agreed in the July 20, 2007, purchase agreement to buy-out the other two JKR members. He agreed to take over the payments on the outstanding purchase money mortgage. He agreed to pay “\$59,000+/-” JKR owed R.C. Bennett. The November 1, 2007, mortgage loan transaction refinanced JKR debt, including the purchase money mortgage. JKR accepted the benefits of the November 1, 2007, mortgage loan transaction.

JKR knew of the November 1, 2007, mortgage loan transaction. This mortgage loan transaction was closed and the November 1, 2007, mortgage was signed by its member and driving force, K.E. Bennett. As evidence of K.E. Bennett's authority within JKR, one need only look as

far as the July 20, 2007, purchase agreement where K.E. Bennett says, without preamble, “[b]elow please find the purchase agreement....” whereby K.E. Bennett is to purchase the interests of JKR’s other two members. Further evidence of K.E. Bennett’s leadership and management role in JKR is the deed from JKR into BOG, signed by K.E. Bennett as the “manager” of JKR. (Deed from JKR to BOG, ROA 812).

The record is full of evidence of the intent of JKR to adopt the actions of its principal and leading member, K.E. Bennett, regarding the November 1, 2007, mortgage loan transaction. This evidence includes: (1) the November 1, 2007 mortgage was signed by K.E. Bennett; (2) the November 1, 2007 loan transaction was a refinance of the purchase money loan transaction whereby JKR obtained title to the property; (3) proceeds from the November 1, 2007, mortgage loan transaction were used to pay certain obligations K.E. Bennett agreed to take on in the July 20, 2007, purchase agreement; (4) an assignment of leases and rents on the property was also signed with the November 1, 2007 closing; (5) K.E. Bennett represented and warranted he was the owner of the property encumbered by the purchase money mortgage refinanced on November 1, 2007; (6) K.E. Bennett provided proof of insurance at the November 1, 2007, closing showing CSBT as the “mortgagee”; and (7) K.E. Bennett signed a “Business Purpose Statement” at the November 1, 2007 closing affirming the loan proceeds were being used to “refinance commercial property”.

There being far more than a mere scintilla of evidence JKR ratified the November 1, 2007, mortgage loan transaction, the Court erred in granting Twin Rivers partial summary judgment dismissing that cause of action.

The JKR’s ratification of the November 1, 2007, mortgage relates back to November 1, 2007. The November 1, 2007, mortgage therefore encumbers the property to this day and the

subsequent deeds into BOG and Twin Rivers are subject to that encumbrance. Thus, it is not necessary to demonstrate ratification of the November 1, 2007, mortgage by either BOG or Twin Rivers. However, there is further evidence not only of JKR's ratification, but of BOG and Twin Rivers.

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