THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**  
DEC 28 2016  
SC Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM JASPER COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

---

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-00148

---

South Carolina Public Interest Foundation and Edward D. Sloan, Jr., Denise G. Davidson, and  
Wilton Woods, Jr., individually, and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Appellants,

V.

Jasper County School District and the Hon. Berty Riley, in her official capacity as Chairman of  
the Board of Trustees of the Jasper County School District,

Respondents.

---

**RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF**

---

Keith R. Powell, SC Bar # 69292  
POWELL COUNSEL LC

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

#### **IV. Argument**

##### A. Respondents request the court to affirm for any ground appearing on the record as provided by Rule 220(c).

Affirmance on any ground appearing in the record is requested. In addition, "[a] respondent 'may raise on appeal any additional reasons the appellate court should affirm the lower court's ruling, regardless of whether those reasons have been presented to or ruled on by the lower court.'" *Sims v. Amisub of S. Carolina, Inc.*, 408 S.C. 202, 214–15, 758 S.E.2d 187, 194 (Ct. App. 2014), *reh'g denied* (May 19, 2014), *cert. granted* (Nov. 19, 2014), *aff'd*, 414 S.C. 109, 777 S.E.2d 379 (2015), *reh'g denied* (Oct. 22, 2015) (quoting *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 419, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000)).

In this case, it is important to note the "hands on" involvement of the actual governing body in the actual procurement activity being challenged. These are not decisions being handled, as they can be in larger governments, solely by administrative employees tucked away in a secured building on a weekday morning. This aspect of direct decision-making and control is touched upon in the November 18, 2015 Order on appeal, and shows itself in the numerous Board minutes used by the Appellants to make their case. (Sequence of events listed in Third Affirmative Defense to Second Supplemental Complaint (R.170-171)) Thus, it bears keeping

in mind that the major milestone events of this procurement occurred before the Board itself, and at public meetings under the FOIA, S.C. Code § 30-40-10 *et seq.* Perhaps the best illustration of this is that, as Appellants point out, an election occurred and the Board paused the work in October of 2015.(R.198)<sup>4</sup>

“In general, courts will not disturb matters within the school board’s discretion unless there is clear evidence of corruption, bad faith, or a clear abuse of power. ... Furthermore, an appellate court will not substitute its judgment for that of the school board’s in view of the powers, functions, and discretion that must necessarily be vested in such boards if they are to execute the duties imposed upon them.” *Davis v. Greenwood School Dist. 50*, 365 S.C. 629, 635, 620 S.E.2d 65, 68 (2005). “The court has recognized that judicial review of such decisions must be limited to allow educational authorities to exercise the discretion necessary to carry out the duties imposed upon them.” *Palms v. School Dist. of Greenville County*, 408 S.C. 576, 578-579, 758 S.E.2d 919, 920 (Ct. App. 2014) (internal quotations and citations omitted), *rehearing denied* (July 10, 2014), *certiorari denied* (May 7, 2015).

In addition to the general duties and responsibilities of all school boards to “[p]rovide suitable schoolhouses in its district and make them comfortable,” S.C. Code § 59-19-90(1), and “[t]ake care of, manage and control the school property of the district,” S.C. Code Ann. § 59-19-90(5), the Board is specially charged with the “powers and duties relative to the public schools of the district: ... plan and construct new school facilities, and maintain and repair

---

<sup>4</sup> These events are not properly in the record, but if considered they simply prove the point of *Glasscock, supra*, that the governing legislative body is *politically* responsible to its constituents for its decisions. Note that, in 2015, Federal District Judge Gergel created a court-ordered single-member seats redistricting plan for the Board and ordered all nine Board seats to be re-elected at a special election in September of 2015.

existing facilities[.]” S.C. Act No. 288 of 1989. *See also, Redmond v. Lexington Cty. Sch. Dist. No. Four*, 314 S.C. 431, 435-436, 445 S.E.2d 441,444 (1994).

Hence there are two bodies of cases that both instruct the courts to defer to the discretion and powers of school boards in cases such as this one: the precedents above concerning the discretion and powers the school boards need to carry out their prescribed mission, *and* the more narrowly focused “procurement cases” (e.g. *Glasscock Co., v. Sumter County*, 316 S.C. 483, 604 S.E.2d 718 (2004) *and Sloan v. Greenville County*, 356 S.C. 531, 590 S.E.2d 338 (2003) more expressly relied upon in the November 18, 2015 Order on appeal.

Finally, Respondents suggest that there is enough chronology provided by the Appellants’ own materials to support laches. This is included as an affirmative defense in the Answer (R.170) but the Respondents advised the Circuit Court that they were not addressing it in *this* summary judgment motion, because the Respondents did not want the trial in any way confused or led astray from the uncontested documentary record on the merits of the plaintiffs’ claims. “The equitable defense of laches is defined as “neglect for an unreasonable and unexplained length of time, under circumstances affording opportunity for diligence, to do what in law should have been done. In order to establish laches as a defense, a party must show that the complaining party unreasonably delayed its assertion of a right, resulting in prejudice to the party asserting the defense of laches.” *State v. Policao*, 402 S.C. 547, 556, 741 S.E.2d 774, 778 (Ct. App. 2013) (internal quotations and citations omitted).

JCSD’s South Carolina Business Opportunities (“SCBO”) advertisement of the design-build solicitation ran in the June 2, 2014 SCBO edition. (R.145). JCSD issued its

“short list” notification on July 14, 2014, for this design-build solicitation. (R.63; R.141; R.145). The two “short list” design-build proposers gave presentations to the Board on August 28, 2014. (R.92; R.145.) JCSD published a document entitled “An Introduction to the Bees Creek Project” on its webpage on September 3, 2104, referencing the solicitation. (R.145.) The two short-listed design-build proposers’ electronic presentations were posted on the JCSD web page on September 8, 2014. (R.145). Plaintiff Sloan sent a FOIA request dated September 24, 2014, inquiring about the contract “to provide design/build services for the Bees Creek Project.” (R.37). Advertised and well-attended public meetings were held on October 9, 2014, for public presentations and questions about the project and the design-build delivery approach. (R.144-145). The Written Determination was sent to Mr. Sloan by the JCSD on October 10, 2014. (R.68; R89; R.149). Sloan made a second FOIA request on October 15, 2014, which was answered on October 22, 2014 and indicated that contract had yet been executed for the design-build work (R.37.) The Board approved executing the contract with the design-builder upon the minutes of its November 10, 2104, public meeting, and the contract was executed on November 10, 2104 (R.157; R.71-79.) The Plaintiffs’ original summons and complaint was filed in the court on October 29, 2014, and it sought to prevent the procurement from proceeding. (R.17-18). However it was not served upon the Defendants until after the contract was executed. The Defendants’ Acceptance of Service is dated November 21, 2014. (R.23.)

Appellants knew their rights in the subject matters raised by the Amended and Supplemental Complaint and did not timely assert them. Appellants’ delay in asserting their claims caused the defendants to incur expenses and otherwise detrimentally change their

position. Equity should refuse to enforce the asserted rights of the plaintiffs in this case on account of their *laches* as an additional sustaining grounds.

B. Whether the Respondents conducted a valid procurement of a design-build contract.

S.C. Code Ann. § 11-35-50 “does not impose a specific requirement that all public procurement be carried out by way of a single, narrowly defined procedure. ... We find no logic or consistency in recognizing some flexibility at the state level while handcuffing local governments with none.” *Glasscock, supra.* Procurement decisions are “a function of [the governing body’s] discretion, the exercise of which they are accountable for as publicly elected officials.” *Id.* It is important to remember that the Board itself made the decision to proceed with design-build delivery, and the Board made the decision to award the contract to M.B. Kahn. These are not administration decisions.

The Board and JCSD did not violate its policy in this procurement. In South Carolina, the State Department of Education controls all school construction. S.C. Code Ann. § 59-23-210. This is done through its Planning and Construction Guide, which is established and incorporated by statute. *Id.* The Planning and Construction Guide contains a section on Procurement which states, “The [Office of School Facilities] recognizes all procurement methods authorized and defined in South Carolina Code Ann. Section 11-35-2910 and 11-35-3005.” (R.112.) Design-Build is one of these recognized “procurement methods.” S.C. Code Ann. § 11-35-3005.

The Design-Build delivery method has been “widely sanctioned for use in public construction.” 1 Bruner & O’Connor Construction Law § 2:171. “[R]ecent legislation at both the federal and state levels, together with court decisions, have encouraged the use of design-build on public work.” *Id.*, § 2:21. “Generally, there are two ways through which a

construction contract may be awarded: 1) RFPs or Design/Build process; and 2) Invitation for Bids or Design/Bid/Build process, also referred to as competitive sealed bidding.” *Sloan v. Department of Transportation*, 365 S.C. 299, 618 S.E.2d 876 (2005). “Contracts for design-build must be procured by competitive sealed proposals ....” S.C. Code Ann. § 11-35-3015(5).

The JCSD Procurement Code has an article that pertains specifically to “Procurement of Construction, Architect-Engineer and Land Surveying Services.” (R.56). This is Article 4, which is separate from the Article 2 (R.45) items cited by the Complaint. Section 4-101 of the JCSD Code provides, “The school district will utilize the South Carolina School Facilities Planning and Construction Guide prepared by the South Carolina Department of Education for new construction, additions, or renovations used in connection with public education.” Section 4-101 also states, “*The school district must have discretion to select the appropriate construction contracting method for a particular project.* In determining which method to use, the school district must consider its requirements, resources, and potential contractor capabilities.” (emphasis added).

Section 4-101 also states, “The school district must include in the contract file a written statement setting forth the facts which led to the selection of a particular method of construction contracting for each project. In selecting the construction contracting method, the school district should consider the results achieved on similar projects in the past and methods used.” Section 4-101, pertaining specifically to construction, is tied directly into the Planning and Construction Guide, which permits any delivery method permitted to the State (including design-build). Section 4-101 would be rendered meaningless by the Complaint’s position that § 2-102 supersedes § 4-101. Such an interpretation eliminates the legislative discretion noted in *Glasscock, supra*.

Section 2-103 of the JCSD Code provides that when the “school district determines in writing that the use of competitive sealed bidding is either not practicable or not advantageous to the school district, a *contract* may be awarded by competitive sealed proposals.” (emphasis added). The written determination precedes the *contract* under this clause, but the clause does not require the written determination to precede the *solicitation*. Even the Appellants’ Original Complaint dated October 29, 2014, says, “this procurement is prospective.” (R.22.)

The Written Determination explains why the JCSD determined that competitive sealed bidding was not advantageous. If the governing body “and the public can look to the written determination and comprehend the [entity’s] rationale in utilizing the design-build method as arguably the most timely, economical, and potentially successful option, then the determination is sufficient.” *Sloan v. Greenville County, supra*. Pursuant to Section 4-101, the JCSD did issue a “written statement setting forth facts which led to the selection of” design-build. This writing satisfies the code requirements and the public information concerns noted in *Sloan v. Greenville County*. It is attached to the Complaint.

Note that this requirement is stated in the past tense: “which *led* to the selection.” There is nothing in the JCSD Code which requires the JCSD to issue this written statement *in advance of all procurement* activity. Procurements are not “set in stone” and inevitable once begun. The government can always cancel a solicitation, even after award and prior to performance. The government must have the flexibility to see whether an acceptable proposal can be received – and even then the government is not required to accept it. It is the contract, not the shopping process, that affects taxpayers. “In other words, if County Council and the public can look to the written determination and comprehend the County’s rationale in utilizing the design-build method as arguably the most timely, economical, and potentially successful option, then the determination is sufficient.” *Sloan v. Greenville County, supra*. The Written

Determination thus satisfied both the *pre-construction* requirement of § 4-101 and the *pre-contract* requirement of § 2-103.

The Appellants cannot read the Procurement Code hyper-literally and out of context when it comes to Section 2-102(1), while simultaneously disregarding the text of Section 2-103(1) that a written determination need only precede the “contract” - not the solicitation. (App. Brief at 7). Further, the Board itself heard the final presentations, of which there were only two. (R.144.) When the Board entered its conclusion about the most suitable proposal on its minutes, the result was both written and, given that there was only one “winner” and only one “loser” (subject to an agreeable contract being negotiated), the rank order of proposals was clearly established. Complaint Exhibits G (R.145) and F (Letter to Participants re Intent to Award) (R.92) also confirm in writing the Board’s deliberations and decision.

In sum, the Board has discretion, and has enshrined that discretion in § 4-101 of its Procurement Code, to authorize JCSD to utilize design-build construction. The JCSD issued a written statement explaining, in depth, why design-build would be used that is more than sufficient for board members and the public to understand why design-build was most suitable to the Board’s objectives.

C. Whether, even if the Respondents' procurement contained some error or omission, the Respondents' board of trustees adopted a valid resolution of ratification and/or exemption of the contract at issue.

After the Board approved the award and JCSD and the Contractor executed the contract, the Plaintiffs commenced this action seeking to set aside that contract. This case creates a "cloud" over the contract - work is not proceeding, but neither party to the contract knows what its rights and obligations may be in the event the contract was invalid *ab initio*, as claimed. Therefore, while this case was pending, the Board of Trustees of the JCSD adopted a Resolution on May 11, 2015. (R.5-8; R.161-162) (the "Board Resolution"). The Board Resolution reads as follows :

---

Whereas, S.C. Act No. 476 of 1998 provides that, "The central authority of Jasper County's education system is the Jasper County Board of Education (board) which is, ex officio, the board of trustees of the Jasper County School District, and all powers and functions vested in school trustees by general or special enactment are vested in the board;" and

Whereas, S.C. Act No. 288 of 1989 provides that, "In addition to those powers and duties of the county board of trustees now devolved on the board and those already provided for by general and special legislation, the board has the following powers and duties relative to the public schools of the district: (10) purchase and sell land, plan and construct new school facilities, and maintain and repair existing facilities;" and

Whereas, the Bees Creek Facility has been vandalized and damaged since the District ceased to occupy the site, and is in need of work to remove the dangers presented by its current conditions; and

Whereas, the current district administrative offices are split between three locations; and

Whereas, the main central administrative office is in an older, wood-frame building not owned by the District, which building does not comply with modern building codes, including most importantly accessibility for the disabled; the

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